

ARCADIA NATURE CAMP Summer 2023

Welcome to Mass Audubon's Arcadia Summer Camp! We look forward to meeting your camper and having a fun summer exploring and learning about the natural world. This document is full of important information to help prepare you and your camper for a memorable summer camp experience. Please read through this document prior to camp and contact us with any questions.

Contents

CAMPDOC AND REQUIRED HEALTH FORMS	
CAMP INFORMATION	З
BEFORE YOUR CHILD ARRIVES AT CAMP	4
WHAT TO BRING TO CAMP AND HOW TO DRESS	5
CAMPER EXPECTATIONS	7
BEHAVIOR MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY	7
HEALTH POLICIES	8
CAMP COVID-19 POLICIES	10
Mass Department of Public Health Information	10
PAYMENT	11
DEADLINES	1
DEPOSIT AND REFUND POLICY	11
ANY OUESTIONS? DON'T HESITATE TO CONTACT US!!	11

CAMPDOC AND REQUIRED HEALTH FORMS

CampDoc is a secure website that Mass Audubon uses to collect the required documentation needed for your camper to attend camp. 7-10 days after you register for camp, you will receive an email directly from CampDoc to upload your camper's health forms and supporting documents for financial aid (if you're applying for sliding scale). Please keep an eye out for this; you can also add the email noreply@campdoc.org to your safe senders list to ensure it doesn't end up in your spam folder. You will be asked to upload forms such as a health

history and doctor's exams, camp waivers, your camper's immunizations, income verification for sliding scale, and emergency contacts and camper pick-up information. Uploading these documents is mandatory and will be needed to secure your camper's spot in our programs. CampDoc is a secure, encrypted, and password protected website that is used by camps across the country.

If your camper is new to Arcadia camps

You will receive an "Invitation" email from CampDoc.com.

• Click on the green "Accept Invite" link within the email to create a new CampDoc.com account and secure password

Note: Your camper's basic health information will save from year-to-year, so once you complete it in CampDoc.com this season, you won't have to start from scratch next year.

If your camper is returning to Arcadia

You will receive a notification email from CampDoc.com to log in and update your camper's information. Your camper's basic information is saved from last year.

- You should use the same email address and password that you used previously to access your CampDoc.com information.
- If you forgot your password from last year, enter your email on the login page and click "Forgot Password" to reset your password.

CampDoc Guidelines for all Arcadia campers

- Once logged in, select your camper's name and click on the health profile tab to complete your camper's information.
- Required questions will be marked with an * and outlined in red.
- Upload any required documents to your CampDoc.com account. If you're on a phone/tablet, you can take a picture to upload the document.
- Upload the Health Care Provider form, including the immunization record. Use the template provided by Mass Audubon or the physical exam form provided by your doctor. Physicals must be within 24 months of attending camp.
- If you would like to apply for an immunization exception due to your religious beliefs or if you have a written recommendation from your child's physician that is different from the standard immunization schedule, please contact the Camp Director to receive a waiver application.
- If your child will be taking medication at camp, this needs to be included in the Health Care Provider Form and signed by a physician, as well as noted in the child's CampDoc record on the "Medications" tab.
- Complete all the tabs in CampDoc, including Emergency Contacts, Activity
 Restrictions, Health Care Providers, Health Insurance, Allergies, Diet & Nutrition
 information, Medications, Authorized Release/Pick-up People, Media Release, and
 Authorizations. This information will help us prepare and be able to provide the best
 experience for your camper!

• You can log in to CampDoc.com at any time to update your camper's health information.

To avoid a late fee, please complete all forms in CampDoc by May 15. If you register for camp after May 15, we ask that you fill out the CampDoc forms as soon as possible and at least two weeks before your camp session begins.

If you need help completing the forms or do not have access to the internet, please contact Devorah Levy at (413) 584-3009 and press "0" for the Visitor Center front desk or email dlevy@massaudubon.org.

For help using Camp Doc contact their support desk at 734-619-8300 x2.

CAMP INFORMATION

At Mass Audubon's Arcadia Nature Camp, we strive to offer high quality outdoor experiences to all of our campers – experiences that they will enjoy and remember for their lifetimes. We cannot meet this goal without the cooperation of our campers and their families, so we invite you to enter into a partnership with us to ensure that every child has the best possible time while attending camp.

We pledge to provide:

- A safe and healthy environment for your child;
- A high-quality educational program;
- A staff firmly committed to providing a positive camp experience for each and every camper;
- A community-minded, inclusive environment which helps every child feel seen, heard, included, secure, and safe.

In return, we expect the following from families and campers:

- Cooperation with our stated and written policies including our behavior and COVID-19 guidelines;
- Detailed attention to the daily needs of your child to prepare them to come to camp (dressed in the appropriate clothing, with a water bottle, nutritious lunch, and snack);
- Commitment to the well-being of the entire camp community (such as keeping a sick or over-tired child at home);
- Willingness to act in collaboration with camp staff to maintain or restore appropriate behavior and participation.

If at any time, you have a question or concern about our camp, please speak with Tim Donner, the Camp Director, or Kim Hoff, the Assistant Camp Director. No question or concern is too small for you to bring to our attention! You may request copies of our background check, health care, and discipline policies and/or grievance procedures at any time.

BEFORE YOUR CHILD ARRIVES AT CAMP

Please take some time, a day or two before your child comes to camp, to prepare them for participation in camp. Here are a few things we would like you to share with your child:

- Each child will have a special place to put their things, so they will not have to carry around everything they bring to camp. They will be expected to carry a water bottle with them, and there will be some days when they will carry a backpack with their lunch to eat out on the trail.
- Each child will be expected to be courteous and respectful of themselves and others; while we will discuss group expectations on the first morning, you might also want to talk to your child about listening when other children or camp staff are talking, and about the need to follow our expectations (for example, always staying together, respect each other and nature, be safe, be curious, have fun!).
- On the first morning, we will be showing the campers where the bathrooms are, where they will be eating lunch, where they can put their things, and where they will be picked up when their camp day is over. We want to ensure they have a sense of their surroundings to help them settle in.
- Please demonstrate to your child how to apply sunscreen and insect repellent. We can help younger campers at your request. We will ask that campers step a little away from the group when applying these products in spray form.
- Remind them that their counselors are really excited to meet the campers and enjoy working with children! They can't wait to share the world of nature with the campers and to get to know them. We welcome any and all questions that your child might have. Counselors are here to ensure that each camper has a great time!
- Remind your camper that this is an outdoor nature camp. All activities, including snack and lunch, take place outside. We are outside even when it rains and when it's hot. Every camp group has a covered outdoor shelter as well as an emergency indoor space if needed. Bathrooms are inside; and we will go inside if there is severe weather, such as a thunderstorm, high winds, etc. We'll take indoor cooling breaks and play water games on days when it's extremely hot.
- There are no swimming activities at Arcadia Nature Camp.

WHAT TO BRING TO CAMP AND HOW TO DRESS

Dress for exploring outdoors and playing games. Be prepared for any weather - we will be outdoors even on rainy days, so rain gear and something warm may come in handy! Any clothing should be ok to get muddy, wet, or dirty since our camps are hands-on in nature.

Please make sure that your child's name is on everything. We cannot be held responsible for lost items. We will keep a Camp Lost and Found. Any items not picked up by September 15 will be donated to a local charity.

Your child should wear:

- Shorts and t-shirts are fine; some families prefer long pants and long shirts to protect against the sun and against ticks or poison ivy.
- Long pants are HIGHLY RECOMMENDED on fielding day (we will let you know which day this happens) as they provide better protection from ticks. We will do tick checks and ask you to do them every day as well.
- Closed-toe shoes like sneakers or rugged hiking shoes For safety reasons, no sandals please. Closed-toe water shoes are ok for days we explore the pond and for use during water games, but please make sure your camper also has sneakers or rugged hiking shoes with them as well for hiking.
- o Socks (to protect against blisters and accidental exposure to poison ivy)
- o A wide-brimmed hat to protect them from sun and insects. A wide-brimmed hat is required for the Great Blue Herons camp on the day we go canoeing.

Your child should bring:

- Backpack to hold their belongings (and to keep their hands free!)
- o Two nutritious snacks, and a hearty lunch. We notice that campers want to eat much more at camp than they do while at school. **Please note that we are nut free.** A foaminsulated bag with an icepack is recommended if their lunch needs to be cold.
- o Sunscreen and insect repellent
- At least one water bottle. Please do not freeze the water bottle the ice will not melt fast enough to give your child enough water to drink. We will refill water bottles throughout the day.
- A spare set of clothes so your child will be able to stay clean and dry if they get wet or have an accident while at camp.
- An extra pair of long pants and a long-sleeved shirt. If your child decides to go into the field for choice time they will be better protected against ticks.
- Everyone should bring a spare set of socks and old sneakers our campers love to go explore the ponds and creeks and will need to be able to change out of their wet shoes and socks.
- A raincoat- we will be outside all day, even in the rain!

What NOT to bring to camp: Do not bring electronic devices, personal treasures, or expensive items to camp. Cell phones and other electronics are not to be used during the camp day. Pocketknives, matches, firearms/ammunition, or other potentially dangerous items are not allowed and are grounds for dismissal from the program. The possession or use of tobacco, alcohol, drugs, and weapons are prohibited. No animals, other than service animals, are allowed in camp.

Parking: Please drive slowly and park in the designated lot for drop off. Turn off your engine in the parking lot (please no idling). Our parking area is one way, please follow the signs when you enter and exit.

Drop off & pick up times: Camp hours are from 9am to 3pm. The time before and after camp is important for the camp staff for planning and preparation; therefore, we cannot be responsible for children before 9am or after 3pm. Please be prompt for drop-off and pick-up.

Drop off: Please park in the designated parking area for drop off. Walk your camper to the entrance where you will see colorful traffic cones for families to line up for check in. Camp staff will meet you, check you in, ask a few screening questions, then send your camper to their designated meeting spot.

End of day pick up: Similar to morning drop off, please park in the designated spots and walk to the front of the buildings where camp staff will greet you. The person doing pick up is required to show a photo ID. Once staff verify the ID they will radio counselors who will bring the camper over. Only people listed in the Child Release section of the CampDoc health form will be allowed to sign out your camper. A parent or guardian may add additional people to their release form, this can be done through CampDoc or in person during the camp week. For any last-minute additions, if you need someone who's not on the release form to pick up your camper, please call Arcadia.

Late Drop off or Early Pick Up: Much of the day is spent outdoors, often away from the main area, which makes it difficult to accommodate late arrivals and early departures. Late drop-off and early pick-ups can happen during lunch time only (11:30 am – 12:30 pm); please speak to the Camp Director or Assistant Director in advance so we can plan accordingly.

Absent Children: If your child will be absent during any camp day, please email us at arcadia@massaudubon.org or call Arcadia at (413) 584-3009 by 8:30am. If no one is available to take your call, leave a message. If a camper does not arrive and we have not been notified of their absence, we will call you at the phone numbers listed on your emergency forms to find out if they are not attending or if you are running late.

CAMPER EXPECTATIONS

Copies of the full policy are available upon request.

Please go over these expectations with your camper before the start of camp. We will also discuss expectations with campers on the first day.

Campers are expected to participate in activities, including outdoor exploration, games, crafts, and nature investigations. To ensure a successful camp experience, please discuss any pertinent information regarding your child's special needs with the Camp Director. We can accommodate on a case-by-case basis in order to establish the best strategy for a great summer camp experience for your camper and the group.

All campers must follow our stated behavioral expectations and safety rules. The Camp Director reserves the right to dismiss a camper when the camper's behavior interferes with the rights of others or the smooth functioning of the group or activity, or violates the camp's behavior policy. In such cases no refunds will be provided. If you have any questions regarding your child's ability to participate in our camp program, please contact the Camp Director.

Camper Expectations

- 1. We treat all living things with respect and kindness.
- 2. We stay with our group.
- 3. We help in taking care of the materials used at camp.
- 4. We speak to others kindly and we respect their physical space.
- 5. We follow staff requests.

BEHAVIOR MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

Camp is a place where children learn and grow socially and emotionally, gain self-confidence, connect with the natural world and with campers and their counselors. All participants must follow our behavioral expectations and safety rules, which have been developed to ensure the safety of campers and to show respect for self, others, and the environment. When a camper forgets a rule or struggles with a behavior expectation, it should be approached as a learning opportunity. We want every camper to have a successful experience at camp, and staff will support this goal through positive behavior management. Positive behavior management at camp focuses on three elements:

- 1. Supportive Atmosphere: Staff are trained to create a supportive atmosphere that encourages children to understand and follow rules independently.
- 2. Behavior Tools: Staff teach children to solve conflicts and misunderstandings through communication and self-regulation of emotions.
- 3. Consistent Rules: Staff follow the rules and guidelines provided by Arcadia to handle behavior concerns.

When camp expectations are forgotten

In the excitement of camp, when campers forget to follow certain expectations, staff will take the following steps:

- 1. Reminder of the expectations.
- 2. Second reminder with warning.
- 3. Short time out.
- 4. Time away from the group to reset.
- 5. Speak with the Camp Director or Assistant Camp Director.

During drop off or pick up, or over the phone, we will inform you if any of these steps were taken during the camp day. We want to work with you to ensure a fun and successful camp experience for your child!

Discipline: In general, any discipline problems should be handled with resets and follow-up discussions with the camper. Missing part or all of an activity might be a consequence. If a child acts in an unsafe manner that is physically harmful to themselves or others, staff will remove the child from the danger and bring them to the Camp Director. In the case of serious or ongoing issues, family will be called and a behavioral agreement will be determined. For the safety of the group, those who cannot meet these expectations may be removed from the camp without a refund.

At no time, or for any reason, will physical or corporal punishment be used. No child shall be punished for soiling, wetting or not using the toilet.

Corporal punishment includes:

- Spanking
- Cruel or severe punishment
- Humiliation or verbal abuse
- Withholding food, shelter, or water

HEALTH POLICIES

Our complete health care policy available upon request.

Sick Campers: If you camper is sick, please keep them at home until they feel better. If a camper starts to feel sick while at camp, we will have them rest inside or in a designated outdoor space until feeling better or until they can be picked up. A staff member will stay will them during this time.

Medications: Medication must be sent in the original container with the pharmacy label attached. Medication must be handed to the Camp Director or Assistant Camp Director upon arrival. No medication, whether prescription or over the counter, may be administered to a child without completely updating the medication information on the health form on CampDoc. Your family physician as well as a parent or guardian must sign this form. All medication administered shall be overseen by the Camp Director, Assistant Camp Director, Acting Health Care Supervisor, or trained counselor. No child shall be allowed to administer an epi-pen unless we receive written permission from the child's doctor, and the medication form has been signed. Be sure that any inhalers have the prescription label attached, or bring

along the box with the label attached. All over-the-counter medications need to follow the aforementioned procedures.

Sun Exposure/Insect Bites: Please do not apply spray sunscreen or insect repellents inside the buildings. We will have a designated Sunscreen and Insect Spray Area near the parking lot and encourage your camper to wear both! Tip: applying sunscreen first and bug spray second is suggested.

The State encourages the use of wide-brimmed hats, long-sleeved shirts and long pants when exposed to sun.

Lyme and Tick-Borne Disease Prevention: Families need to be aware of the potential health risks ticks represent and take an active role in protecting their child by checking each evening for ticks by feeling the skin for bumps. Visual checks for ticks on campers' arms, legs, and clothing is a regular part of our routine. Even though we do regular tick checks at camp, we ask that you do a thorough tick check each evening. Please visit the following Mass Department of Public Health website for a fact sheet on ticks and tick-borne diseases: www.mass.gov/tick-borne-diseases

Bathroom Needs: Campers will have many opportunities to use the bathroom throughout the camp day. However, should nature call when we are far from any facilities, we will provide campers support if they need use the forest as their bathroom. Staff carry an outdoor bathroom kit and are trained in how to provide camper privacy and hygiene and minimize our impact. Please talk to your camper about this bathroom option before camp. Preparing campers for their time at camp is essential in ensuring a successful and fun camp experience. If your camper seems unsure, please arrange a time visit Arcadia in advance and/or reach out to the camp director if you have questions.

Adapting to the weather:

- Rainy Days: Campers are outside for most rainy days. Summer rains can be cold. Be prepared with rain gear and a sweatshirt or jacket. We have roofed, outdoor shelters to use when needed.
- **Hot Days:** On very hot days your camper may be damp or wet when you pick them up! You may want to bring a towel to protect your car seat. Please inform your camper and/or the staff if you wish to limit how wet they get. We will gain their verbal consent before any camper gets wet!

In the event of injury or if first aid is provided: Families will be notified, indicating the nature of the injury, what first aid was provided, and by whom. Staff will keep a copy and this will be logged into the first aid log by health care supervisors. All camp staff are first aid and CPR certified.

Families will be contacted during the camp day if:

• A camper needs health care beyond our training

- A camper is not feeling well and health care supervisors determine it is best that they
 go home
- A camper has symptoms related to COVID-19
- First aid was provided and health care supervisors want to alert families prior to pick up
- A camper sustains an injury to the head

In case of emergency: First Aid will be administered as per standing medical orders and at the level of our first aid training. The receptionist, Camp Director, or Assistant Camp Director will notify families using numbers on the child's registration and medical forms. We will work with you about arrangements for further care, pick-up, or transportation of the child. When appropriate, local emergency response personnel will be called at the same time families are being notified. If a camper needs transportation, it will be provided by a parent/guardian or ambulance service. If the parent/guardian or emergency contact persons cannot be reached, the child's physician will be called, and that person will make decisions about additional help, i.e. ambulance and hospital care.

If unable to reach the camper's primary contacts, we will call emergency contacts from the health form. Attempts to notify the primary contacts will be indicated in the health log.

CAMP COVID-19 POLICIES

The health and welfare of our campers and staff remains our highest priority. We feel confident that the success of Mass Audubon Camps in designing and offering safe camps the last 2 years, as well as our policies, will guide us into another great summer in 2023. We will continue to stay informed and engaged with the work of the Massachusetts Department of Public Health and the American Camp Association, ensuring best practices and staying safe as we adapt to the developing phases of the COVID-19 pandemic. We will continue to work closely with partners in public health, childcare, and camp programs, will keep our camp community updated and adjust our COVID-19 policies accordingly. Based on current public health guidelines, masks will be optional. If you prefer for your camper to wear a mask, please make a note of this in their CampDoc account. Feel free to pack a few masks in their backpack, we will also have some masks available in case your camper needs one.

Mass Department of Public Health Information

COVID-19 Information

Mass Department of Public Health Covid-19 information

Meningococcal Disease and Camp Attendees

Campers are not considered to have increased risk of Meningococcal Disease, but the Department of Public Health requires us to provide you the information in the link below. Please read the document "Meningococcal Disease and Camp Attendees: Commonly Asked Questions." You do not need to print or return a signed waiver to us.

Meningitis info from mass.gov

PAYMENT

If paying by check, write your camper's first and last name on the memo line (make the check out to Mass Audubon). MasterCard, Discover, and VISA accepted.

DEADLINES

The balance of the camp fees and all forms (including health forms and immunizations to CampDoc) are due on or before May 15 unless a payment plan has been set up with the Camp Director or Operations Manager. A late fee of \$20 per camper will apply if any forms or payments are late or incomplete. If registering after May 15, payment is required in full unless special arrangements are made. If payment or forms are incomplete, we cannot guarantee you camper's slot will be held. No camper is allowed to attend camp unless all forms, waivers, and payments are complete.

DEPOSIT AND REFUND POLICY

A nonrefundable deposit of \$50 per session is required to hold each child's space in camp. This amount is a portion of the stated fees; it is not an additional charge. Nonrefundable deposits cannot be transferred to another camper, family, or camp location. Please check your calendar for conflicts before registering.

Refunds will be given as follows:

- On or before May 15: refund of all payments, except the non-refundable deposit
- After May 15: no refund is available.

If Arcadia must cancel a session, you will receive a full refund. Refunds are not given for participant dismissal, failure to attend, absence, or sick days. If your family has a special circumstance, please contact the Camp Director or the Operations Manager to discuss options.

ANY QUESTIONS? DON'T HESITATE TO CONTACT US!!

General camp questions: Tim Donner, Camp Director, (413) 206-7752,

tdonner@massaudubon.org.

For registration questions, camp session openings, or camp payments, contact the Arcadia Registrars, (413) 584-3009. Press "0" after the call connects to reach the registrars or you can email them at arcadia@massaudubon.org.

For payment plans and detailed billing questions, please contact us at arcadia@massaudubon.org.

We look forward to seeing you and your camper soon!